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H. B. 347: OHIO COMBINES CIVIL RIGHTS LAW WITH REAL ESTATE
LICENSEE DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS AND CONTINUING EDUCATION
I.

INTRODUCTION

The source of authority for the reasonable regulation of licensing
activities that affect public health, welfare, and safety is the state
police power. A primary purpose behind state regulation in licensing is
1
the protection of the public from incompetence.
In order to understand the application of H. B. 347 to Ohio's real
estate licensing law, it is necessary to conceptualize the basic organization of authorities overseeing real estate licensing activities. The Division of Real Estate of the State of Ohio Department of Commerce administers the real estate licensing law.' This administrative agency will
be referred to throughout this note as "the Division." Ohio law provides, for administrative purposes, that the Ohio Real Estate Commission be deemed part of the Department of Commerce.' This agency,
which will be referred to as "the Commission," is composed of five
members, four of whom must be in the business of real estate. The
4
fifth Commissioner represents the general public. The Director of
Commerce designates a Superintendent to serve as the executive officer
of the Commission.'
One of the duties of the Commission is to advise the Superintendent with regard to the content of courses designed to meet the educational requirements' for licensing real estate salesmen and brokers.'
The powers of the Superintendent include investigation of complaints
of licensee conduct or violations of real estate licensing law.' Another
power vested in the Commission is the suspension or revocation of
licenses for violations. 9
H. B. 347 became effective November 7, 1979.0 The purpose of
1. See Smith v. Alabama, 124 U.S. 465 (1888).
2. See Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 4735.05 (Page Supp. 1979).
3. Id.
4. Id. § 4735.03.
5. See id. § 4735.05(A).
6. Id. § 4735.03(D).
7. "Real Estate salesman" means any person associated with a real estate broker
and transacting business pursuant to that association. Id. § 4735.01(C).
"Broker" includes a person, partnership, association, or corporation engaging in
real estate transactions for consideration. Id. § 4735.01(A).
8. Id. § 4735.05(B)(3).

9.

Id. §§ 4735.051(E), .18.

10. Am. Sub. H. B. 347, 113th General Assembly (1979) (codified in OHIO REV.
CODE ANN. ch. 4735 (Page Supp. 1979)). H. B. 347 enacted §§ 4735.051 and 4735.141;
it amended §§ 4112.051, 4735.01, .03, .05, .07, .09, .091, .10, .13, .16 and .18.
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this new law is to increase the professional responsibility of real estate

licensees. To accomplish this purpose, the enactment alters statutory
real estate licensing requirements" and statutory grounds for suspending
and revoking real estate licenses.'" The major impact of the legislation
arises from provisions designed to prevent civil rights violations by
licensees' 3 and to encourage the Ohio Civil Rights Commission to initiate
complaints of real estate licensee violations with the Commission."'
Following a discussion of the legislative purpose of H. B. 347, this
note will evaluate the right of the Ohio Civil Rights Commission to
lodge complaints with the Commission. Provisions for suspending and
revoking licenses will be analyzed, and apparent difficulties with investigation of complaints will be discussed. Finally, educational requirements will be summarized. Although reference to each of the
numerous changes which the enactment makes is beyond the scope of
this note,' 5 some of the more important changes not discussed in text
will be treated in footnotes.

II.

LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE

Continuing education for retention of a real estate broker or
salesman's license constituted the essence of the original draft of the
bill.' 6 A subcommittee of the Senate Commerce and Labor Committee
rewrote the bill to remedy a longstanding problem of infrequent
disciplinary action against licensees engaging in unlawful practices.
This version strongly discouraged civil rights discrimination by real
estate licensees. Among other things, it required education about civil
OHIO REv. CODE ANN. §§ 4735.07, .09, .10, .141 (Page Supp. 1979).
12. Id. §§ 4735.051, .13, .18.
13. See id. §§ 4735.07, .09, .18(G).
14. See id. § 4735.051(D).
15. For example, the impact of the new law on limited real estate brokers and
salesmen's licenses will not be discussed. See, e.g., id. § 4735.091 (Page Supp. 1979).
Limited real estate brokers and salesmen engage in the sale of cemetery interment
rights. Id. § 4735.01(D), (E). See also, id. (B). Furthermore, there will be no discussion
of the provisions of the new law regarding effects of adverse court decisions or adverse
actions of the Commission or Superintendent with respect to qualification for an initial, renewed, or reinstated license. See generally id. §§ 4735.07(B)(2), .09(B)(2),
.09(F)(2),.141(C).
16. See Interview with Representative Larry Christman, chief sponsor of the
original draft of the bill, in Englewood, Ohio (Nov. 5, 1979) [hereinafter cited as
Christman Interview]. With the support of the Division, the Ohio Association of
Realtors sought passage of this draft as part of its unwritten ten-year blueprint for increasing the standards of the trade. Telephone interview with James M. Burtch, II, attorney with the Ohio Real Estate Association (Nov. 9, 1979). The Ohio Real Estate
Association organized the ten-year blueprint about 1973. Id.
11.

https://ecommons.udayton.edu/udlr/vol5/iss2/18

LEGISLATION NOTES

19801

rights law and mandated suspension or revocation of real estate
licenses for civil rights discrimination.'
The cause for integrating civil rights protections and real estate
licensing law by the Senate arose from findings by the Joint Select
Committee on School Desegregation with respect to housing.' 8 This
Committee found that racial discrimination in Ohio's housing market
was a major impediment to public school integration. 9 It also determined that Ohio was "not providing its residents with adequate protection from housing discrimination." '2 0 The Committee noted that the
Ohio Housing Element survey of housing needs in Ohio found that
discrimination is shown most often by racial steering." The survey indicated that discriminatory practices are increasingly more subtle, and
thereby harder to prove, and that local fair housing agencies are
perhaps most successful in settling housing discrimination problems. 2
17. Telephone interview with Marion Bontempo, legislative aid to Senator M. Morris Jackson (Nov. 15, 1979) [hereinafter cited as Bontempo Interview]. Ms. Bontempo
helped formulate the Senate draft.
18. See generally JOINT SELECT COMMITTEE, REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF
THE JOINT SELECT COMMITTEE ON SCHOOL DESEGREGATION TO THE OHIO GENERAL
ASSEMBLY, 23-25 (1978) [hereinafter cited as REPORT]. See also A COMPREHENSIVE
REVIEW OF HOUSING DECISION AND DEMOGRAPHY AS FACTORS IN SCHOOL DESEGREGATION IN OHIO (Nov. 1978) (A series of reports by the Cuyahoga Plan of Ohio Inc., The
Housing Advocates, Inc., and The Heights Community Congress, financed by the
Joint Select Committee on School Desegregation). This was the primary source for
Select Committee findings with respect to housing. REPORT at 23 n.21.
19. See REPORT, supra note 18, at 23.
20. Id. at 24.
21.

Id.

at 23. See OHIO DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOP-

MENT, OHIO HOUSING ELEMENT 10-6 (1978) [hereinafter cited as OHIO HOUSING]. This
is a comprehensive study of Ohio's housing needs written by the state and funded in
part through a planning assistance grant from the U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development. The textual conclusion was based on studies by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, the Ohio Civil Rights Commission, and
local groups. Racial steering is the practice whereby real estate licensees provide different terms and conditions for housing rentals or sales, or report that advertised
dwellings have been taken depending on the race of the inquirer.
22. OHIO HOUSING, supra note 21, at 1-4, 4-25 to 4-27, 10-5. The report provided
an overview of federal and state anti-discrimination statutes with respect to housing,
procedures under these statutes, discussion of statistics exemplifying illegal housing
discrimination with regard to rentals and sales throughout Ohio (including breakdown
by age, race, sex, and physical or mental handicap), and strategies for various state
agencies to eliminate such discrimination. Evidence was gathered from diverse sources
including the Chicago Regional and Columbus Area Housing and Urban Development
Offices, offices of the federal district court at Columbus, the Ohio Civil Rights Commission, and several fair housing organizations. Local fair housing ordinances generally provided the same or less protection against housing discrimination as did existing
federal and state statutes. The low case load of Ohio administrative agencies compared
to evidence of considerable discrimination indicated administrative remedies needed to
be more effective. See OHIO HOUSING, supra note 21.
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The Select Committee also took notice of an Ohio Civil Rights Commission statement that "housing discrimination is still very evident in
Ohio ... *"23
In response to these reports, the Select Committee made suggestions for upgrading accountability of the real estate industry.2 ' Some
of these suggestions were incorporated in the Senate version of the
bill. 5
The Senate drafters of H. B. 347 received testimony from interest
groups, but the drafters were influenced most by the results of a study
by an independent state service. 26 The study primarily concerned real
estate license suspension and revocation practices of the Commission.
It revealed that the Commission was "more protective of its licensees
than of the public," as indicated by consumer complaints not being investigated and frequent dismissals of disciplinary action against
licensees.2" The protection was especially noticeable when cases involved civil rights violations. 28 Testimony presented by a public interest law
firm included preliminary findings of a nationwide study commissioned by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 9
This study indicated that in Akron, Canton, Cincinnati, Columbus,
and Dayton discrimination by Ohio's real estate industry ranged from
a low of eight percent above the national average, with respect to ren23. REPORT, supranote 18, at 24 (quoting OHIO CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION, 19th
ANNUAL REPORT 9 (1977-78).
24. See REPORT, supra note 18, at 27. See also id. at 65.

25.
26.

Bontempo Interview, supra note 17.
Id. The Legislative Service Commission conducted the study. See generally

SUBCOMMITTEE ON THE OHIO REAL ESTATE COMMISSION,

COMMITTEE TO STUDY

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS, LEGISLATIVE SERVICE COMMISSION DRAFT P-806 (Jan. 11,
1979) [hereinafter cited as SUBCOMMITTEE]. This draft includes a summary of the

historical development of Ohio real estate licensing law, a critical evaluation of its purposes, implementation, funding and enforcement practices, suggestions for improving
effectiveness of Ohio real estate licensing law, and a summary of the pleadings in Bell
v. Akron Board of Education, No. C-78-20A (N.D. Ohio, filed Jan. 13, 1978) (complaint alleged that the discriminatory actions by the Commission contributed to housing segregation which in turn contributed to racial segregation in the Akron public
schools). See also COMMITTEE TO

STUDY BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS, LEGISLATIVE SERVICE COMMISSION, STAFF SUGGESTIONS FOR IMPROVING THE REGULATORY EFFEcTIVENESS OF THE OHIO REAL ESTATE COMMISSION AND THE DIVISION OF REAL ESTATE
P-806 (March 1, 1979); COMMITTEE TO STUDY BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS, SUMMARY
OF STAFF FINDINGS [with respect to] OHIO REAL ESTATE COMMISSION P-806 (March 1,

1979) [hereinafter cited as FINDINGS].
27. FINDINGS, supra note 26, at 2. The study also found that most new salesmen
were not adequately prepared and that current law required no "evidence of continued

competence." Id. at 1.
28. Id. at 2-3.
29. Testimony of M. Sobol, project directoron staff of The Housing Advocates,
Inc. at 1-2 (1979).
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tals, to as much as seventy-four percent above the national average
with respect to sales.3 0
The purpose of the enactment is to make licensees accountable for
their actions. The Senate drafters addressed this purpose within two
broad categories: issuing licenses and suspension or revocation of
licenses. H. B. 347 increases the educational prerequisites for the initial
acquisition of licenses by brokers and salesmen and demands continued education in order to renew them. 3 It requires the Commission
to suspend or revoke licenses in certain situations.3 " It delineates procedures and attempts to establish a previously nonexistence timetable
for Division responses to written complaints about licensees."
By blending the goals of continuing education with the strong concern for preventing civil rights discriminations, H. B. 347 is an important enactment for the protection of civil rights.3 * Licensee education
must include not only traditional areas of real estate matters but also

civil rights law. This provides a reasonable basis for the Commission to
hold licensed real estate salesmen and brokers accountable for their
acts."
30. Id. at 2 n.3. Dr. J. Saltman, regional coordinator for the study, provided the
statistics. The study was conducted by the National Committee Against Discrimination
in Housing.
31. OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §§ 4735.07, .09, .141 (Page Supp. 1979). In recent
years there has been a national trend to increase educational requirements for the initial acquisition of real estate licenses. D. Epley & C. Armbrust, Legal Limitations on
Real Estate PrelicensingRequirements, 7 REAL ESTATE L.J. 15 (1978). For example,
between 1971 and 1976 there was a 670 increase in the number of states that require
some kind of educational course as a prerequisite to the acquisition of a real estate
brokers or salesman's license. Id. (citing NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REAL ESTATE
LICENSE LAW OFFICIALS, ANNUAL REPORT (1971 & 1976)).

32. OHIO REv. CODE ANN. §§ 4735.13, .18 (Page Supp. 1979).
33. Id. § 4735.051. To increase awareness of the enforceability of lawful real
estate licensee practices, H. B. 347 provides that as of January 1, 1981, the Commission shall "publish and furnish to public libraries and to brokers booklets on housing
and remedies available to dissatisfied clients under Chapters 4112. [civil rights law] and
4735. [real estate licensing law] of the Revised Code." Id. § 4735.03(G). The new law
also requires that the Commission provide for the wording and size of a statement
that: (1) informs the reader that the Division licensed the broker and his salesman; (2)
explains the section 4735.12 provisions for consumer recoveries from the real estate
recovery special account; (3) informs the reader that the Division can assist with consumer complaints and inquiries; and (4) identifies the telephone number and location
of the Commission. As of January 2, 1982, "[e]very contract or listing agreement
entered into" is to prominently display this statement. Id. § 4735.16(D). The above
provisions should help counter the lack of public awareness of the Division and Commission as a means for handling consumer complaints of licensee wrongdoing. See
generally FINDINGS, supra note 26, at 2.
34. E.g., Christman Interview, supra note 16.
35. The new law also requires that the Commission "[notify licensees of changes
in state and federal civil rights law pertaining to discrimination in the purchase or sale
Published by eCommons, 1980
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OHIO CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION RIGHT TO COMPLAIN

Chapter 4112 of the Ohio Revised Code charges the Ohio Civil
Rights Commission with the enforcement of Ohio's anti-discrimination
laws in regard to housing." The Select Committee found that the Civil
Rights Commission was not effectively executing its responsibility."
One of the reasons for this ineffectiveness was that the law did not
"permit the Commission to initiate complaints of housing discrimination." 3 Section 4735.051(D) of the new law attempts to remove this
impediment by providing that, upon request, the Ohio Real Estate
Commissioners shall have direct review of a complaint lodged by the
Ohio Civil Rights Commission.' 9 Ironically, the legislature has not yet exof real estate and relevant case law, and inform licensees that they are subject to
disciplinary action if they do not comply with the changes." OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §
4735.03(F) (Page Supp. 1979). From the legislative intent of H. B. 347, it is inferable
that the notification requirement should be extended to cover rentals of real estate.
See, e.g., OHIO HOUSING, supra note 21. See also note 47 and accompanying text infra.
The provisions of the new law compare favorably with statutory law in such other
states as California and New York with respect to both educational requirements for
real estate licensure and requirements for disciplining licensees. See notes 44, 79, 85,
and 89 infra.
36. Under H. B. 347, courts are to notify the Ohio Civil Rights Commission of
findings with respect to housing discrimination. See OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §§
4112.051(F), 4735.13(C) (Page Supp. 1979). The purpose of this requirement is to
enable the Ohio Civil Rights Commission to keep abreast of the state of housing
discrimination case law and to serve as a central public repository for such case law.
Telephone interview with Frank Gibb, legal counsel to Ohio Civil Rights Commission
(Feb. 6, 1980) [hereinafter cited as Gibb Interview].
37. See REPORT, supra note 18, at 24.
38. Id. (quoting OHIO CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION, 19th ANNUAL REPORT 9
(1977-1978)).
39. The Commissioners have sixty days from the filing of such a complaint to
"decide whether or not to suspend or revoke" licenses for violations under section
4735.18. OHIO REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.051(E) (Page Supp. 1979). Presumably the
Commissioners would rely upon the expertise of the Division to investigate the complaint and to conduct a formal hearing for the licensee against whom the complaint is
made. It is unclear, however, whether the sixty days between the filing of the complaint and the disciplinary decision is intended to provide an expedited investigation
and hearing upon the complaint, or whether it is indicative of a legislative intent that
the Commission base its decision upon the results of an investigation and hearing conducted by the Ohio Civil Rights Commission.
The tactical decision whether to take a claim of licensee housing discrimination
before a state or federal forum involves numerous considerations. Included among
them are the nature of the alleged discrimination and whether applicable rights and
remedies under state law are similar to those under federal law. To illustrate, Ohio prohibitions against housing discrimination with respect to sales and rentals on the basis
of race, olor, religion, sex, or national origin are similar to federal fair housing provisions. Compare OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §§ 4112.02(H)(1), .02(H)(2), .02(H)(4),
.02(H)(7), .02(H)(10), .02(H)(l 1) (Page Supp. 1979) with 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604, 3606
(1976). The Ohio provisions also prohibit housing discrimination based on ancestry or
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pressly empowered the Ohio Civil Rights Commission with authority to
initiate its own charges or investigations of housing discrimination.'
This omission indicates that the Ohio Civil Rights Commission can bring
to the Commission only those third-party allegations which involve real
estate licensee wrongdoing and which the Ohio Civil Rights Commission
has investigated and attempted to conciliate." The only exception is that
investigations and conciliations may be omitted where the Ohio Civil
Rights Commission has found "the complainant acted with the intention
of fulfilling any contracts or agreements he was seeking ...."II
Under H. B. 347, aggrieved parties may bring their complaints
directly or indirectly to the Division. The indirect approach involves
lodging a charge of housing discrimination with the Ohio Civil Rights
handicap. Because of the facial similarity between Ohio and federal law, claims of
discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex or national origin should be made
first in a state forum rather than at the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development. See id. § 3610 (c); OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4112.05 (Page Supp. 1979).
On the other hand, under federal fair housing law, complainants alleging these
discriminations may proceed directly to a state or federal court. Compare 42 U.S.C. §
3612(a) with OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4112.051 (Page Supp. 1979). See generally
Gladstone v. Village of Bellwood, 441 U.S. 91 (1979); note 57 infra.
The nature of relief sought may influence the choice of forum. Compare 42 U.S.C.
§ 3612 (c) (1976) (federal fair housing remedies in state and federal courts include actual and punitive damages) and OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4112.051 (B), (E) (Page Supp.
1979) (state fair housing judicial remedies do not include punitive damages) with 42
U.S.C. § 3610 (d) (1976) (U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
remedies are limited to inducing voluntary compliance, injunctions, or other appropriate affirmative action) and OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4112.05 (Page Supp. 1979)
(Ohio Civil Rights Commission remedies include voluntary compliance, cease and
desist orders, and other affirmative action) and Id. §§ 4375.051, .18(G) (Ohio Real
Estate Commission remedies are accommodation and possibility of suspension or
revocation of real estate license of wrongdoer). It is notable that for violations of section 4735.18(G), unlike other violations of section 4735.18, the first finding of housing
discrimination not supported by a final court adjudication may not have any
disciplinary action taken against the wrongdoer licensee.
A statute of limitations of approximately six months is delineated in the above state
and federal statutes except with respect to the Commission. There does not appear to
be any time limitation for filing complaints with that agency. See also notes 43 and 57
and accompanying text infra for consideration of standing to complain.
40. Gibb Interview supra note 36. See OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4112.05(B) (Page
Supp. 1979).
41. See OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4112.05(B) (Page Supp. 1979).
42. Id. It is not clear, however, whether the intent of H. B. 347 is to permit the
Ohio Civil Rights Commission to file a written complaint with the Commissioners
before holding a hearing upon the alleged discrimination. If a complainant is concerned that the Division may conduct an inadequate investigation of alleged licensee
wrongdoing, or if the allegation relates to subtle discrimination, the complainant may
have a better opportunity for a sufficient finding of discrimination if he or she initially
directs the allegation to the Ohio Civil Rights Commission. The Ohio Civil Rights
Commission may be better prepared to conduct thorough and approriate investigations
of housing discrimination than the Division. See note 67 infra.
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Commission, which is empowered to complain directly to the Real
Estate Commissioners.
Parties may be aggrieved as the result of their personal interaction
with licensees. Licensee activities may also injure other parties indirectly. For example, municipalities as well as residents may be aggrieved
indirectly. Arguably, municipalities and residents seeking to avoid
social injury or property devaluation as the result of licensee racial
steering practices may seek redress with the Division either directly or
through the Ohio Civil Rights Commission."3
Complaints that do not individually manifest a licensee violation
may do so when considered collectively. This may happen, for example,
where the alleged discrimination is subtle. In such a situation, filing
charges of licensee discrimination with the Ohio Civil Rights Commission may provide a means whereby several individual complaints, viewed
collectively, evidence a pattern of licensee activity that constitutes
discrimination. The Civil Rights Commission may then lodge a complaint with the Real Estate Commissioners based on such pattern of activity.
IV.

SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION OF LICENSES

H. B. 347 outlines the procedure for determining whether violations have occurred. The procedure is subject to varying interpretations, some of which may impede justified findings of violations.
Nevertheless, after a violation is established, the enactment requires
the Commission to suspend or revoke the wrongdoer's license.
This section of the note will present the relevant sections of the
enactment holding licensees accountable for their actions. This will be
followed by a discussion of difficulties in the procedural provisions for
determining whether violations have occurred. Finally, these problems
will be discussed with regard to the new provisions for handling complaints of licensee wrongdoing.
A.

Licensee Accountability

A major strength of H. B. 347 is the mandate that the Commission
must "suspend or revoke the license of any licensee who, in his capacity
as a real estate broker or salesman ... is found guilty of" any of thirty43. See generally Gladstone v. Village of Bellwood, 441 U.S. 91 (1979); note 57
infra. The Ohio Supreme Court has not addressed the issue of the limitations on standing to allege housing discrimination. Gibb Interview, supra note 36. Cf OHIO REV.
CODE ANN. § 4112.05(B) (Page Supp. 1979) (no express limitation on standing to complain before Ohio Civil Rights Commission). See note 57 infra for discussion of standing to complain.
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five specified violations."' One of the enumerated violations provides for
suspension or revocation where there is
[a] final adjudication by a court of any unlawful discriminatory practice
[by a licensee] pertaining to the purchase or sale of real estate prohibited
by Chapter 4112 [civil rights law] of the Revised Code, provided that
such violation arose out of a situation wherein parties were engaged in
bona fide efforts to purchase, sell, or lease real estate .

. . .

Another situation where civil rights are protected is the Commis44. OHIO REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.18 (Page Supp. 1979). The mandate is intended
to overcome past abuses of discretion by the Commission when dealing with established
violations. See, e.g. FINDINGS, supra note 26, at 2. This requirement also is designed to
overcome abuse of discretion by the Division with respect to its past practice of accumulating complaints against a licensee to make a stronger case for wrongdoing. See
SUBCOMMITTEE, supra note 26, at 19. The documented effect of this practice was that
the licensee was permitted to continue harming the public through repeated violations

that were unlikely to lead to suspension or revocation of his license. Id. at 18-21.
The mandate to revoke or suspend a license may give rise to future litigation,
especially where a revocation is involved. On the basis of prior Ohio decisions, it may
be argued that an order of revocation could be too harsh under the facts and circumstances of an established violation. See Jenkins v. Board of Real Estate Examiners
106 Ohio App. 391, 152 N.E. 2d 282 (1958); Carpenter v. Sinclair, 106 Ohio App. 211,
149 N.E. 2d 150 (1958).
To avoid overt violations of section 4735.18(G) prohibitions against real estate
discrimination, licensees may themselves conduct their activities in a nondiscriminatory manner under an agreement that other parties involved with purchases
and leases effect discriminatory results. For example, licensees may enter an agreement
that certain organizations will use red-lining practices for unlawful discriminatory purposes. Red-lining practices deny housing mortgages or insurance, or slow down the
clearance of credit or the processing of mortgage or insurance paperwork. Such
agreements would arguably constitute a conspiracy to engage in unlawful discrimination. Section 4735.18, however, fails to include a conspiracy for unlawful discrimination as grounds for the revocation or suspension of licenses. See also OHIO HOUSING,
supra note 21, at 10-6, 12-54.
Ohio's mandatory suspension or revocation of licenses for violations of section
4735.18 is stricter disciplinary action than is required in New York and California.
California law merely holds a real estate licensee subject to disciplinary action, CAL.
Bus. & PROF. CODE § 10177 (West Supp. 1979), and subject to discretionary suspension
or revocation of his license, id §§ 10177, 125.6. New York simply gives the department
of state discretion to decide whether to revoke or suspend the license, or reprimand or
fine the licensee. N.Y. REAL PROP. LAW § 441-c 1 (McKinney Supp. 1979).
It is notable that H. B. 347 empowers the Superintendent to "[a]pply [at his discretion] to the appropriate court to enjoin violation of [real estate licensing law]." OHIO
REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.05(C) (Page Supp. 1979). Furthermore, "upon a showing by
the superintendent that any person has violated or is about to violate any [real estate
licensing law], the court shall grant an injunction, restraining order, or other appropriate order." Id. § 4735.05(C)(2). The use of this judicial remedy may provide aid
to complainants before they suffer permanent injury. For example, it could be used
against discriminatory practices of licensees where transactions involving sales, purchases, or rentals have not been completed.
45. OHIO REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.18(G)(1) (Page Supp. 1979).
Published by eCommons, 1980
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sion's mandate in section 4735.18(G)(2) to revoke the license of a
broker or a salesman for:
[a] second or subsequent violation of any unlawful discriminatory practice pertaining to the purchase or sale of real estate prohibited by
Chapter 4112. of the Revised Code or any subsequent violation of
municipal or federal civil rights laws relevant to purchasing or selling real
estate whether or not there has been a final adjudication by a court, provided that such violation arose out of a situation wherein parties were
engaged in bona fide efforts to purchase, sell, or lease real estate."'
It is likely, however, that a broker or salesman having his license
revoked under this provision will claim dissatisfaction with the revocation order and appeal under section 4735.19. An injunction against
revocation could be sought on grounds that revocation of a license
before final adjudication by a court violates the licensee's due process
rights. Automatic suspension of the license pending final adjudication
may be more reasonable.
Ohio real estate licensing law applies not only to sales and purchases but also to rentals. 7 Accordingly, it is reasonable to conclude
that the above sections will be applicable to violations pertaining to the
rental of real estate.
Another important feature is the express notice to brokers in section 4735.18(HH) that they are accountable for wrongful acts performed by their salesmen in the course of their employment.
Whenever the Commission suspends or revokes the license of a salesman
for any [of the thirty-five specified violations], the Comission may also
suspend or revoke the license of the broker with whom the salesman is affiliated if the commission finds that the broker had knowledge of the
salesman's actions ....
B.

H. B. 347 Difficulties

The strong disciplinary provisions, especially those applicable to
civil rights violations,' 9 may be weakened by the manner in which
violations are established. In addition, failure to require that the Com46. Id. § 4735.18(G)(2). This provision should help overcome abuse of discretion
by the Division with respect to its past practice of holding investigations and formal
hearings in abeyance during related court proceedings against the licensee. See SUBCOMMiTrEE, supra note 26, at 18. For the documented effect of this practice, see note
44 supra.
47. See, e.g., OHIO REv. CODE ANN. §§ 4735.01(A)(1), .01(B), .01(C) (Page Supp.
1979); See also DeMetre v. Savas, 93 Ohio App. 367, 371, 113 N.E. 2d 902, 904 (1953).
48. OHIo REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.18(HH) (Page Supp. 1979).
49. See notes 45 and 46 and accompanying text supra.

https://ecommons.udayton.edu/udlr/vol5/iss2/18

19801

LEGISLATION NOTES

mission suspend or revoke a broker's license for his salesman's
wrongful acts may give rise to abuse of discretion that favors the
broker."0
There also appears to be difficulty with section 4735.051, which
prescribes procedures for handling complaints against licensees. Contrasting interpretations of this section point to a lack of clarity in the
specified procedure. 5 This may undermine the strength of the
disciplinary provisions for licensee violations.
Furthermore, the discretion remaining within the Division as to
when investigations should be conducted may limit otherwise justified
findings of violations.5 " There is also potential discretion with respect
to the time at which, if at all, a formal hearing must be held after a
complainant's request for an informal meeting reveals a violation." In
light of past practice, the unsettled question of the Commission's
discretion to implement investigations and formal hearings indicates
that the exercise of discretion may favor the real estate industry at the
expense of the complainant.5 '
C. Handling Complaints of Licensee Wrongdoing
Prior to H. B. 347, there were no statutory time limits for under5
taking investigations of complaints against real estate licensees. The
new law places a time limitation on the handling of written complaints
of licensee wrongdoing.5 6 Upon receipt of a written complaint, the
Superintendent has ten business days to send an acknowledgement to
the complainant." The acknowledgement must inform the complai50. This would seem to be contrary to an inferable goal of the new law to overcome past problems of abuse of discretion by the Commission. See generally note 44
supra.
51. See notes 65 through 70 and accompanying text infra.
52. See notes 64 through 74 and accompanying text infra. It is notable that past
enforcement practices indicated:
[C]ases are more likely to be recommended for hearing if the original complaint
alleges violations that are either easier to prove (such as [section 4735.18] (E), (Y),
or (Z)) or very general in nature (such as [section 4735.18] (F) or (I)). Thus, a
complaint's actual merit may not determine the likelihood of [a] hearing [being
held] as much as factors related to the ease with which the complaint may be
verified.
SUBCOMMIrrEE, supra note 26, at 21-22.
53. See notes 65, 69, and 70 and accompanying text infra.
54. See, e.g., note 27 and accompanying text supra.
55. See OHIO REV. CODE ANN. ch. 4735 (Page 1977 & Supp. 1978).
56. Id. § 4735.051 (Page Supp. 1979).
57. Id. § 4735.051(A). Ohio real estate licensure law gives no definition of the
term "complainant." The rationale of the recent Supreme Court decision in Gladstone
v. Village of Bellwood, 441 U.S. 91 (1979) offers support for a broad construction of
the term "complainant." Under a broad construction, standing to complain would not
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nant that he or she can request the Division to consider the complaint
at either an informal meeting with an investigator and the licensee, or
at a formal hearing conducted before the hearing examiner."
At an informal meeting, the complainant, the alleged violator and
an investigator discuss the complaint. 9 A satisfactory accommodation
may be reached at the informal meeting, and evidence of a violation
may be uncovered. 6 A formal hearing includes the right to issue subpoenae 6 ' and a record of findings of fact and conclusions of law . 6 The
decision of the Commission to revoke or to suspend a license is based
upon the results of the formal hearing. 3
have to be limited to parties engaged directly in transactions with licensees.
In Gladstone, the Court dealt with federal fair housing law, which is similar to
Ohio's civil rights law with respect to housing. Compare OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §§
4112.02(H)(1), .02(H)(2), .02(H)(4), .02(H)(7), .02(H)(10), .02(H)(I 1) (Page Supp.
1979) with 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604, 3606 (1976). The Court construed the federal statutory
provisions for standing to seek judicial relief to be as broad as those for seeking administrative relief. Consequently, standing was accorded an aggrieved municipality and
aggrieved "testers" residing within the area targeted for racial steering. Testers are persons who pose as buyers or renters in order to ascertain whether real estate licensees
are engaging in racial steering.
The municipality gained standing by alleging that racial steering by defendant real
estate brokerage firms and their employees constituted wrongful manipulation of its
integrated housing market. The municipality claimed this brought economic and social
detriment to its citizens. 441 U.S. at 109-11. The resident testers acquired standing by
using the results of their testing activities to allege two injuries. They claimed that
steering practices of the defendants decreased the economic value of the testers'
homes. They alleged further that racial steering deprived them of social and professional benefits associated with living in an integrated community. Id. at 111-15.
Applying the Gladstone rationale to Ohio real estate licensing law could result in
suspension or revocation of licenses on the basis of either direct or indirect injury to
the complainant. Complaints could be lodged by individuals directly aggrieved by their
own interactions with licensees. Complaints could also be made by aggrieved individuals or groups who were themselves not directly involved in transactions with
licensees.
Litigation may arise over the question whether Ohio Revised Code section
4735.18(G) means that complaints of real estate discrimination may be lodged by parties not directly involved in transactions with licensees where it is shown there actually
had been other parties engaged in bona fide efforts to sell, purchase, or rent. Assuming, arguendo, that courts rule negatively on this issue, section 4735.18(C) ("continued
course of misrepresentation") or section 4735.18(F) ("dishonest or illegal dealing,
gross negligence, incompetency, or misconduct") could provide an umbrella under
which complaints of indirect injury may be asserted.
58. OHIo REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.051(A) (Page Supp. 1979).
59. See id. § 4735.051(B).
60. See id.
61. See id. § 4735.04 (Page 1977). Inferably, this section empowers the
Superintendent to subpoena witnesses and documents even for an informal meeting.
Cf. Id. § 4735.05(C)(1) (Page Supp. 1979) (subpoenae for witnesses).
62. Id. § 4735.051(C).
63. See id. § 4735.051(D).
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Disciplinary actions are based upon evidence that a violation has
occurred. Under the new law,
[tihe superintendent, except as otherwise provided, shall

. .

.

(3) In-

vestigate complaints concerning the violation of this chapter or the conduct of any licensee;
(4) Establish and maintain an investigation and audit section to investigate complaints and conduct inspections, audits, and other inquiries
as in the6 judgment of the superintendent are appropriate to enforce this
chapter. '

The bill also provides that
[t]he investigation and audit section of the division of real estate shall investigate the conduct of any licensee against whom a written complaint is
filed .... [I]f the parties fail to reach an accommodation at the informal
meeting or the investigator finds evidence of a violation, then the hearing
examiner must hold a formal hearing."
The Superintendent has indicated that the above provisions do not
require the Division to investigate a complaint prior to either an informal meeting or a formal hearing. 6 Without an investigation before the
informal meeting or the formal hearing, however, there may be insufficient evidence presented at the meeting or hearing to support an otherwise valid complaint. 67 The failure of H. B. 347 to specify clearly the
64.

Id. § 4735.05(B).

65.

Id. §§ 4735.051(A), (B).

66. Telephone interview with G. Timothy Marks, Superintendent of the Division
(Nov. 16, 1979) [hereinafter cited as Marks Interview].
Perhaps the focal point of the issue whether an investigation is required before
either an informal meeting or a formal hearing is the requirement that "(tihe investigation and audit section of the Division of Real Estate shall investigate the conduct of
any licensee against whom a written complaint is filed." OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §
4735.051(A) (Page Supp. 1979). It is not clear, however, whether the term "investigate" means (1) to ascertain information relating to the complaint prior to an informal meeting or a formal hearing, or (2) to hold an informal meeting or a formal
hearing for the purpose of ascertaining information relating to the complaint.
67. Problems of proving civil rights discrimination by licensees may be especially
difficult without a thorough investigation.
Housing discrimination may take many forms, and they are becoming more subtle, according to those people who work to eliminate such practices. The Ohio
Civil Rights Commission and several local fair-housing agencies . . . state that
discriminatory practices are harder than ever to prove. Industry members know
the new laws, and, according to some, they know how to live by the letter of the
law but outside its intent.
OHIO HOUSING, supra note 21, at 4-1. See generally Comment, Real Estate Steering
and Fair Housing Act of 1968, 12 TULSA L. J. 758 (1977); Note, Racial Steering: The
Real Estate Broker and Title VIII, 85 YALE L. J. 808 (1976).
Apparently, there is enough staff and money to handle the expected increase in
complaints under the new law for at least the next two years, if the staff is capable of
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standards under which the Division should investigate complaints may
weaken its disciplinary purpose. This may lead to litigation over the interpretation of the provisions.
The informal meeting may be considered as an opportunity for the
claimant to obtain a settlement as well as an opportunity for the Division to find evidence that a violation has occurred. 68 Applying this
view to the new law, the Division is required to hold a formal hearing
if it finds some evidence of a violation, either in its investigation prior
to the informal meeting or during the informal meeting itself. 9 Such a
literal interpretation means that any evidence of a violation gives rise
to a formal hearing. With the threshold for holding a formal hearing
being less than probable cause that a violation has occurred, it is likely
that some formal hearings will be held on the basis of evidence that
would be obviously insufficient to establish wrongdoing. Arguably,
such a practice would result in a waste of both time and money.
There is another view: the Division does not have to pursue an indication of a violation found in the course of an informal meeting that
reaches a settlement satisfactory to the complainant." Under this interpretation, whether or not an investigation and a formal hearing would
follow an indication of licensee wrongdoing at the informal meeting remains within the discretion of the Division. Abuse of discretion could
impair otherwise justified disciplinary actions against the licensee.
There is concern that there may be insufficient time to prepare for
the complainant's choice of either an informal meeting or a formal
hearing.' Nevertheless, the established period of twenty business days
following notice to the complainant of the meeting or hearing date,7"
may be adequate preparation time for an informal hearing, but insufficient to prepare adequately for a formal hearing. 3 The underlying
working under the provisions of the new law. Marks Interview, supra note 66. Yet
there is concern that the staff is presently not specially trained to deal with civil rights
discriminations. Telephone interview with Tom Simms, attorney with the State of Ohio
Department of Commerce (Nov. 16, 1979), [hereinafter referred as Simms Interview].
Simms notes that auditing, testing, licensing, and handling such routine complaints as
the failure of licensees to return earnest money have been the traditional concerns of
the staff. Id.
68. Simms Interview, supra note 67.
69. See OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4735.051(B) (Page Supp. 1979).
70. Marks Interview, supra note 66. Contra, OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §
4735.051(B) (Page Supp. 1979) (even though the parties reach an accommodation at an
informal meeting, a formal hearing will follow if the investigator finds evidence of a
violation).
71. Marks Interview, supra note 66.
72. See OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4735.051(B) (Page Supp. 1979).
73. Simms Interview, supra note 67.
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reason is that an investigation during the twenty day period may require contacting several people (e.g., bankers and neighbors) to determine whether there is some evidence of a violation. If there is evidence,
the materials from the investigation will be handed over to an attorney
who, in the time remaining, must prepare the Division's case for the
formal hearing.7 '
Under the new law, the complainant has the possibility of a ready
monetary settlement by means of the informal meeting."' Consequently, it can be expected that complainants more interested in monetary
settlements than in the suspension or revocation of a license will request an informal meeting. If there is a settlement reached at the informal hearing, the new law puts the responsibility on the Division to
hold a formal hearing if there is evidence of a violation.7 6
Finally, abuse of discretion may result from the lack of an
established timetable for holding a formal hearing following the
discovery of evidence of a violation during either the course of an investigation for an informal meeting or during the informal meeting
itself. Without a timetable, the Division may return to a dilatory pattern of investigating complaints before holding a formal hearing."
V.
A.

EDUCATIONAL REQUIREMENTS

Broker's License and Salesman's License

Requirements for the issuance of a broker's license include being a
licensed real estate salesman in Ohio for a minimum of two years. 8 H.
B. 347 requires that in order to receive a broker's license, a real estate
salesman licensed as of January 2, 1972, but prior to January 3, 1984,
must have instruction which includes thirty classroom hours of "new
case law on housing discrimination; desegreagation [sic] issues; and
methods of eliminating the effects of prior discrimination . . . . 9Ad74. Id.
75. Compare OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 4735.051(B) (Page Supp. 1979) (accommodation available in informal meeting) with id. § 4735.051(E) (complainant successful at a formal hearing and others financially injured because of licensee violations
may sue in a court of law under § 4735.12 for recovery of financial loss).
76. Id. § 4735.051(B) (Page Supp. 1979).
77. Simms Interview, supra note 67.
78.
79.

OHIo REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.07(E) (Page Supp. 1979).
Id. § 4735.07(F) (Page Supp. 1979).

While California does not require broker applicants to have taken civil rights
courses dealing with housing, topics such as fair housing and affirmative marketing are
covered in some broker preparatory courses. Letter from W. Jerome Thomas, chief
legal officer of the State of California Department of Real Estate, to Cheryl Snyder
(Dec. 26, 1979) [hereinafter cited as Thomas Letter]. See generally CAL. Bus. & PROF.
CODE §§ 10153.2, .4, .5 (West Supp. 1979).
New York's requirements for a real estate broker's license include ninety classroom
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ditionally, a person holding a valid real estate salesman's license issued
as of January 2, 1980, must have thirty hours of classroom instruction
in both real estate brokerage and real estate special topics.' 0 As of
January 2, 1980, real estate special topics for broker specialization in
residential sales will include "recently enacted municipal, state, and
federal civil rights laws and civil rights case law; affirmative marketing;
fair housing; desegregation issues; and methods of eliminating the ef-

fects of prior discrimination." 8
An applicant for a broker's license, who receives his real estate
salesman's license after January 3, 1984, must have "completed a
minimum of two years of post-secondary education," or its equivalent
in either semester or quarter hours, in an authorized college or university. " In addition, he must have met all of the educational requirements discussed above8 3 as well as the educational requirements
8
under the old law. '
H. B. 347 provides that educational requirements for persons
applying for a real estate salesman's license include thirty hours of
classroom instruction that covers such specific topics as "new case law
on housing discrimination; desegregation issues; and methods of
eliminating the effects of prior discrimination." 8 5 Additionally, those
obtaining a license after January 1, 1980, must successfully complete
thirty hours of classroom instruction at an institution of higher education within two years following issuance of the license. 6 This instruction must cover real estate appraisal and real estate finance. 7
hours and the completion of at least one approved real estate course. N.Y. REAL PROP.
LAW § 441 1 (d) (McKinney Supp. 1979). It is not clear from this statutory provision
whether the topics required for study include civil rights.
80. See OHIo REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.07(F) (Page Supp. 1979). Presumably, real
estate special topics concern specialized areas of real estate activities such as commercial or residential sales and leases.
81. See id. Where feasible, a member of the faculty of an accredited law school
shall teach the thirty classroom hours of real estate law, with the exception that an
Ohio Civil Rights Commission staff member knowledgeable in fair housing topics may
teach fair housing and civil rights law. Id.
82. Id. § 4735.07(G).
83. See notes 78-81 and accompanying text supra.
84. See OHIo REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.07(G) (Page Supp. 1979).
85. Id. § 4735.09(F)(2). Qualifications for instructions of real estate law for people seeking a salesman's license are similar to those qualifications for teaching real
estate law for a broker's license. See id.; see also note 81 supra.
California has no educational requirements for the initial acquisition of a real
estate salesman's license. Thomas Letter, supra note 79. As of November 1, 1979, New
York statutory law requires applicants for a real estate salesman's license to attend
forty-five class hours and to complete at least one or more approved real estate
courses. N.Y. REAL PROP. LAW § 441 I-A (f)
(McKinney Supp. 1979).
86. OHIo REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.09(F)(2) (Page Supp. 1979).
87. Id.

https://ecommons.udayton.edu/udlr/vol5/iss2/18

LEGISLATION NOTES

1980]

The new educational requirements do not unduly restrict access to
the real estate industry. 8 The educational requirements for acquiring a
broker's license are rather complex, but they are stated clearly, as are
those for a salesman's license. The educational requirements for both
brokers and salesman's licenses provide a foundation of knowledge
upon which real estate licensees can be held accountable for their conduct.
B.

Continuing Education

The Senate drafters of H. B. 347 believed that continuing education requirements for licensed brokers and salesmen should include the
same civil rights and fair housing topics as required for the initial acquisition of licenses. 9 Unfortunately, this is not expressed in the new
law."0 Section 4735.141(B) merely provides that approved institutions
offer continuing education classroom hours that include various civil
rights and fair housing topics. Assuming that not every classroom hour
offered will include coverage of these topics and that licensees can
choose which classroom hours to attend, it is conceivable that licensees
can acquire the requisite thirty classroom hours without exposure to
many, if any, civil rights or fair housing topics. This would defeat the
88. Christman Interview, supra note 16. Accord, Testimony of A. Smith, executive vice president, Ohio Association of Realtors, on H. B. 347 before the Senate
Commerce and Labor Committee (May 22, 1979).
89. See, e.g., Memorandum from Marian Bontempo to Senator M. Morris
Jackson (June 29, 1979); Memorandum from Marian Bontempo to Representative
Christman, Senator Bowen, Senator Jackson, and Mr. Bob McAllister (June 26, 1979).
After January 1, 1981, California will require continuing education of forty-five
classroom hour every four years in order to renew the licenses for real estate brokers
and salesmen. See CAL. Bus. & PROF. CODE §§ 10170, .04, 10171 (West Supp. 1979).
Several of the approved continuing education courses already cover fair housing and
other anti-discrimination topics. Thomas Letter, supra note 79.
Continuing education for renewal of a New York real estate brokers or salesman's
license will be required as of November 1, 1983. N.Y. REAL PROP. LAW § 441 3 (a)
(McKinney Supp. 1979). Forty-five hours of attendance and the completion of one or
more approved courses will be required. Id. Continuing education courses for renewal
of brokers and salesmen's licenses must conform to "an established curriculum composed primarily of real estate practices and professional responsibility and ethics ..... "
Id. § 441 3 (c). It is not ascertainable whether this provision means the curriculum will include civil rights law and related anti-discrimination topics.
90. Without specifying required coverage of civil rights and fair housing topics,
the enactment states that, with the exception of licensees who are at least seventy years
old, continued holding of a brokers or salesman's license requires:
on or before January 31, 1983 ... each licensee who was licensed by the state ...
shall submit proof satisfactory to the superintendent [according to the time
schedule herein] that he has satisfactorily completed, during the preceding three
years, thirty classroom hours of continuing education as prescribed by the Commission pursuant to section 4735.10 [regulatory powers] of the Revised Code.
OHIO REv. CODE ANN. § 4735.141(A) (Page Supp. 1979).
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underlying purpose of the new law. Unless the legislature corrects this
potentially harmful defect, the burden will be on the Commission,
under its regulatory powers, to assure that specific civil rights topics
are included in the thirty hours of continuing education instruction. 9
VI.

CONCLUSION

With the enactment of H. B. 347, fair housing law is part of Ohio's
real estate licensing law. A real estate licensee who engages in housing
discrimination violates real estate licensure provisions. In this respect,
the enactment may serve as a model for other states seeking to protect
civil rights with respect to activities of the real estate industry.
The new law makes instruction in civil rights topics a requirement
for licensure. It provides also that continuing education will be a prerequisite for the continued holding of licenses. These requirements provide a foundation upon which licensees can be held reasonably accountable for their activities.
H. B. 347 provisions mandating license suspension or revocation
for such specific violations as civil rights discrimination will make the
Commission and licensees more responsible. The new law provides a
readily available forum for complaints against licensees. The major
weakness of the enactment is its lack of clarity and specificity with
respect to provisions for investigations of such complaints. Aside from
this difficulty, the enactment is workable, and, if enforced in accordance with the spirit of the legislature's intent, H. B. 347 will benefit
the public and the real estate industry.9"
Cheryl Wright Snyder
Code Sections Affected: §§ 4112.051, 4735.01, .03, .05, .051, .07, .09,
.091, .10, .13, .141, .16, .18.
Effective Date: November 7, 1979.
Sponsor: Christman (H)
Committees: Committee on State Government (H)
Committee on Commerce and Labor (S)
91. See id. § 4735.10(A)(3).
92. "Threatening to complain to the [Commission], which is perhaps the most effective remedy of all, is dependent on the reality of the agent's fear that such a complaint could result in losing his means of livelihood." Comment, Licensing of Real
Estate Agents in California, 5 U. CAL. D. L. REv. 130, 159-60 (1972).
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